THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM COLLETON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Diane S. Goodstein

Appellate Case Number: 2018-000970

RECEIVED

Feb 16 2021

SC Court of Appeals

Antwan McMillan,.....Petitioner

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

James A. Brown, Jr.
Attorney for Petitioner

Law Offices of Jim Brown, P.A.
1600 Burnside St, Suite 100
P.O. Box 592
Beaufort, South Carolina 29901
(843) 470-0003
SC Bar # 12213

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the PCR court err by finding trial counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel when counsel's deficient *voir dire* concealed a juror's marital relationship with a law enforcement officer employed by the same agency which investigated Petitioner?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Petitioner was arrested on or about June 5, 2010 and charged with seven criminal counts. He was eventually indicted, along with two co-defendants, for three counts of Attempted Murder, three counts of Attempted Armed Robbery, and one count of Possession of a Weapon During the Commission of a Violent Crime. Appendix, p. 1-14. He and one co-defendant, David Jakes, were tried by a jury in the Colleton County Court of General Sessions from August 29 - September 1, 2011 with the Honorable Perry M. Buckner, III. presiding. Appendix, p. 45.

During voir dire and jury selection, no juror indicated a relationship by either blood or marriage to a member of the Colleton County Sheriffs Office (CCSO), the agency which investigated this case. Appendix, p. 53-104. Nonetheless, after the fourth witness, Juror 102 (Juror) informed the trial judge that she had a concern about serving, indicating in a note: "I need to make sure that I'm a suitable juror for this trial due to the status of my husband." Appendix, p. 231, 1. 15-16. Thereafter, the trial court individually examined the juror¹ and, finding no bias, allowed her to remain over the objections of Petitioner's trial counsel. Appendix, p. 231, 1. 2- p. 243 , 1. 17.

During this trial, the State elicited testimony from 18 witnesses of whom 12 were law

¹Another juror issue arose moments before the verdict was read and is discussed as a matter of factual context below. This second juror issue is not before this Court.

enforcement officers or other government agents. Appendix, p. 46-49. A second co-defendant, James Davis, testified as a state 's witness along with his father and a female acquaintance of the three accused. Three persons testified as victims of the crimes.

At trial, co-defendant James Davis, Jr. testified that he, Petitioner and co-defendant David Jakes blocked the exit ramp near Interstate 95 at dusk in an attempt to rob two women who were standing beside their stranded vehicle. Appendix, p. 259. 1. 14- p. 261, 1. 14. When a third member of the stranded travelers, an active duty soldier in the US Army, made his presence known, the evidence indicated the soldier and Jakes engaged in prolonged gun fire. Jakes was struck and during the break in shooting, the male victim reloaded his gun. Appendix, p. 204-225.

Davis' testimony indicated that Petitioner then drove Jakes along with Davis away from the scene. Davis indicated the three met with two females who then assisted in the transportation of Jakes to the hospital for treatment for his multiple gunshot wounds. The three victims suffered no physical injury from the gunplay and lost no items of property. Appendix, p. 244- p. 304.

Petitioner's defense theory was mis-identification of him as a perpetrator. None of the three victims could identify any of their assailants and no law enforcement officer witnessed any criminal conduct. None of the forensic evidence presented through more than 100 exhibits directly implicated the Petitioner. Appendix, p. 45- p. 769.

Petitioner presented the testimony of the lead detective during his case in chief. Appendix, p. 617- p. 638. Petitioner elicited testimony that cooperating witness Davis's first statements to law enforcement also exculpated Petitioner. Petitioner also elicited testimony that co-defendant Jakes provided a statement to law enforcement which exculpated the Petitioner.

In an effort to counter this, the State elicited evidence from the lead detective indicating that he could not corroborate the existence of the third person Jakes implicated instead of Petitioner.

Unlike the Petitioner, according to the testimony, both Jakes and Davis confessed to involvement in the crimes. Further, forensic evidence also linked Jakes' wounds to the gunfire. However, the physical evidence only linked Petitioner to the vehicle used in the crime and not to the crime scene itself.

The jury deliberated for nearly four hours and returned with three questions or requests. Appendix, p. 728- p. 745. The jury returned a verdict convicting Petitioner of three counts of Assault and Battery, First Degree, three counts of Attempted Armed Robbery, and one count of Possession of a Weapon During the Commission of a Violent Crime. Appendix, p. 745-748. Petitioner was sentenced to 10 years for the assault convictions, 20 years for the robbery convictions, and five years for the gun charge with one assault sentence running consecutive to one of the robbery sentences. Appendix, p. 770-776.

Petitioner filed a direct appeal arguing that the trial court should have struck Juror 102 for cause. As framed on appeal, the Court of Appeals opinion “determine[d] solely whether Juror was impartial.” Appendix, p. 779. After analysis, the Court of Appeals determined that no constitutionally prohibited bias was revealed during the trial court's inquiry. Appendix, p. 781.

Further, the Court of Appeals noted that no presumption of bias existed because there was no concealment by the juror. The Court of Appeals expressly noted “no voir dire question required Juror to respond with her husband's employment.” Appendix, p. 781. Thus, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's refusal to dismiss Juror.

The South Carolina Supreme Court initially granted a petition of certiorari to entertain the direct appeal issue; however, the Court subsequently dismissed the petition as improvidently granted. Appendix, p. 782-783.

Petitioner then filed an application seeking post conviction relief. PCR counsel framed this issue as whether trial counsel was ineffective when he “failed to properly request adequate voir dire which resulted in the seating of a juror who was married to a member of the prosecuting law enforcement agency.” Appendix, p. 790.

A merits hearing was conducted in the Court of Common Pleas on June 6, 2017. Appendix, p. 801- p. 841. Petitioner presented the testimony of trial counsel who indicated that he was mistaken in failing to request voir dire as to any juror's relationship with a member of the CCSO or any other law enforcement agency. He indicated that he had no strategic reason for this failure as this is a question he normally asks.

Further, Petitioner noted that trial counsel had peremptory strikes left to use at the time Juror was presented before the parties.

The PCR court requested proposed orders. She signed the Order of Dismissal finding that trial counsel was neither deficient nor was any prejudice shown. Appendix, p. 856- p. 870. This Order was signed on April 23, 2018. Petitioner’s counsel received a copy of this Order on May 7, 2018.

Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal and Proof of Service on or about May 23, 2018. A Petition for Writ of Certiorari was filed with the South Carolina Supreme Court on October 29, 2018 and subsequently transferred to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. On January 14, 2021,

the Court of Appeals granted the petition for a writ of certiorari and this Brief follows.²
Appendix, p. 872-873.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court reviews judgments issued in collateral challenges under an any evidence standard as to factual findings. *Milledge v. State*, 811 S.E.2d 796, 800 (SC 2018). However, the appellate court conducts a *de novo* review of errors of law in such cases. *Id.* An appellate court “will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law.” *Goins v. State*, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (SC 2012).

ARGUMENT

This Court should grant the relief requested by Petitioner because his lawyer rendered deficient performance in the conduct of the voir dire during his trial. This deficiency prejudiced Petitioner. The record developed during the PCR hearing demonstrates prejudice especially in light of legal developments occurring prior to the issuance of the Order of Dismissal (Order).

As to the issue of deficient performance, the Order failed to discuss the South Carolina Supreme Court’s opinion addressing the use of information concerning “a potential - and material - source of bias” unintentionally concealed during voir dire or federal case law regarding constitutional requirements for voir dire. See *State v Coaxum*, 764 SE2d 242, at 246 (SC 2014). The Order failed to acknowledge the impact of the *Weaver* decision indicating that prejudice may be established when a structural error affects fundamental fairness. See *Weaver v MA*, — US —, 137 S Ct. 1899 (2017). The Order improperly applies the “overwhelming evidence of guilt”

²Undersigned counsel was retained to argue Petitioner’s case in the appellate courts and did not serve as PCR counsel at the circuit court level.

doctrine to a structural error and in violation of *Smalls v State*, 810 SE2d 836 (SC 2018).

Because the Order was controlled by an erroneous application of law and in light of this Court's *de novo* review, the Order of Dismissal should be reversed.

Law Concerning Claims of Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

There are two components for a court to analyze in a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel (IAC). *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). First, the reviewing court must determine if the acts and omissions of counsel fell below an objective standard of performance. Second, the reviewing court must determine if it is reasonably likely that the outcome of the trial would have been different had counsel not performed deficiently. However, the US Supreme Court has also indicated that prejudice may be established when a structural error is “so serious as to render his or her trial fundamentally unfair” regardless as to the likelihood that the outcome would be different. See *Weaver v MA*, — US —, 137 S Ct. 1899, at 1911 (2017).

Deficient Performance

Trial Counsel rendered deficient performance when he failed to *voir dire* the jury venire as to the relationship between members of the venire and the Colleton County Sheriff's Office (CCSO). This deficiency is best recognized when considered in relation to the use of peremptory challenges. In case at bar, the deficient *voir dire* hindered Petitioner's ability to reasonably exercise his peremptory challenges.

The primary function of *voir dire* is to provide sufficient information to allow counsel to intelligently use peremptory challenges. Error generally occurs when restrictions on *voir dire* hinder the opportunity to reasonably exercise these challenges. Further, error occurs when concealment of material information hinders the use of peremptory strikes.

Law Concerning *Voir Dire* and Jury Selection

An accused's jury trial rights are defined by both constitutional requirements and statutory rights. Under the Sixth Amendment to the US Constitution, an accused is entitled to a jury trial in all criminal cases in which the potential punishment is more than six months. Sixth Amendment, US Constitution & *Baldwin v New York*, 399 US 66 (1970). Likewise, the South Carolina Constitution also requires a jury trial when an accused faces criminal punishment. Article 1, Section 14, SC Constitution.

The gravamen of the jury right is that the accused is entitled to an impartial jury. See *Warger v Shauers*, -US -, 135 S Ct 521 (2014). When an accused challenges a juror's presence on the jury for cause, the constitutional inquiry ultimately rests on the confidence of the trial court in the impartiality of that individual juror. *Morgan v. Illinois*, 504 US 719 (1992). If an accused is tried before an impartial jury, it is difficult to find the process constitutionally insufficient. *Palacio v State*, 511 SE2d 62, at 68 (SC 1999).

However, in South Carolina, state law also provides requirements regarding the impanelment and composition of a jury in a criminal case. To begin, a jury in the Court of General Sessions must be composed of 12 jurors. Article V, Section 22, SC Constitution. Also, these jurors must be unanimous as to the verdict rendered. Article V, Section 22, SC Constitution.

Further, an accused is entitled to the employment of some voir dire prior to the selection process. Specifically, SC Code Section 14-7-1020 provides that a trial judge shall ask certain questions of potential jurors upon request of counsel for either party. Finally, an accused is entitled by statute to the right to exercise peremptory challenges. SC Code Section 14-7-1110.

Apart from statutory procedure concerning *voir dire* in criminal cases, federal law provides guidance as to the interplay between *voir dire* and the exercise of peremptory strikes. See *US v Brown*, 799 F.2d 134 (4th Cir. 1986) & *US v Rucker*, 557 F.2d 1046 (4th Cir. 1977). The “essential function of *voir dire* is to allow for the impaneling of a fair and impartial jury through questions which permit the intelligent exercise of challenges by counsel.” *US v Brown*, at 135-136 (multiple quotations and citations omitted). The federal courts have opined that it is not the probing nature of any particular *voir dire* that gives meaning to a defendant’s use of peremptory challenges, but instead indicate that the reason *voir dire* exists: “would largely be vitiated if peremptory challenges were required to be exercised without the benefit of adequate information upon which rational challenges may be predicated, irrespective of whether such information is actually utilized, or whether the crucial factor to a particular defendant is ‘those with blue eyes.’” *US v Rucker*, at 1048.

The *Rucker* Court noted that “[w]hile it is the nature of a peremptory challenge that it may be exercised capriciously or whimsically, (internal citation omitted), at least the opportunity to exercise it meaningfully must be present.” *Rucker*, at 1048-1049. Without asking probing questions, “salient information about prospective jurors might never be revealed, and the entire process would do nothing to advance the cause of selecting a competent, disinterested jury.” *Rucker*, at 1048- 1049 (internal quotation omitted). Even though the conduct of a *voir dire* examination is a matter within the broad discretion of the trial judge, the exercise of that discretion is limited by “the essential demands of fairness.” *Rucker*, at 1048-1049 (internal quotation omitted).

Voir dire which impairs a defendant’s ability to intelligently exercise his peremptory

challenges is ground for reversal, irrespective of prejudice. *Rucker*, at 1048-1049 (internal citation omitted). In the direct appeal setting, the federal courts have held that the “[f]ailure to question potential jurors about biases toward law enforcement officers is not, standing alone, reversible error.” *US v Wu*, 52 F.3d 323 (table only), 1995 WL 215440, p. 3, unpublished (4th Cir. 1995) citing *US v Muldoon*, 931 F.2d 282, 286–87 (4th Cir.1990). But while abandoning a *per se* reversible rule in the direct appeal setting, the Fourth Circuit has indicated that a “district court may find that such an inquiry [as to potential bias towards a law enforcement official’s testimony] is the most efficient means of assuring the defendant’s right to an impartial jury.” *US v Lancaster*, 96 F.3d 734, 742 (4th Cir. 1996).

South Carolina law also recognizes that certain information about a prospective juror might be considered "material" to the use of these peremptory strikes if there is a potential of bias. *State v Coaxum*, 764 SE2d 242, at 246 (SC 2014). In fact, the South Carolina courts have recognized that the concealment of material information from the accused may improperly impair the exercise of peremptory strikes regardless of the nature of the concealment. In *State v. Coaxum*, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that the unintentional nature of the concealment of information about a juror is not a determinative factor in the analysis of error. 764 SE2d 242 (SC 2014).

The Court in *Coaxum* found that a juror was properly removed mid-trial despite the unintentional nature of the concealment. The *Coaxum* court found the operative question to be whether "the information concealed .. would have been a material factor in a party's exercise of its peremptory challenges." *Coaxum*, at 246. In a direct appeal setting, the concealment of this information from the accused may also require the reversal of a guilty verdict and remand for a

new trial. See *State v Tucker*, 815 SE2d 467 (SC Ct App 2018) citing *Coaxum*.

While Petitioner's claim is consistent with the analysis in *Coaxum*, no South Carolina appellate court has addressed whether counsel can be constitutionally ineffective when material information is concealed from the accused because of the deficient exercise of *voir dire* by his own trial counsel. Nonetheless, courts in other jurisdictions have made such a finding.

In *Montana v Lamere*, the Montana Supreme Court reviewed an accused's convictions for aggravated assault and assault with a weapon. *Montana v Lamere*, 112 P3d 1005 (MT 2005) abrogated as to the prejudice analysis by *Weaver v MA*, — US —, 137 S Ct. 1899 (2017). The juror at question in *Lamere* was the mother of an employee of the prosecuting attorney's office. *Lamere*, at 108. The defense counsel did not become aware of this relationship until a lunch break after the commencement of the trial and his objection to this juror's service was overruled by the trial court. *Lamere*, at 109.

In reversing this conviction, the Montana Court held that defense counsel was deficient³ when he failed “to take notice of the pertinent information in Whirry's questionnaire result[ing] in inadequate questioning during *voir dire* which in turn led counsel to make uninformed decisions ...” *Lamere*, at 1012. The *Lamere* Court noted that the juror indicated this relationship on a juror questionnaire but that accused's indigent defense counsel failed to take notice of the answers. The *Lamere* Court then noted that trial counsel failed to ask this juror more than one question during *voir dire*.

The *Lamere* opinion references trial counsel's admission that his failure was not part of

³Unlike South Carolina, Montana recognizes claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal if the trial record sufficiently documents the alleged act or omission and allows understanding of trial counsel's reasons for such act or omission. *Lamere*, at 1009.

trial strategy and was a "mistake." The Court also noted the "natural inclinations of one whose life is committed to law enforcement" when discussing the importance of adequate voir dire. *Id.*, at 1011 (internal citations omitted).

The *Lamere* opinion recognized a duty of trial counsel to adequately question during voir dire so as to enable the intelligent exercise of peremptory challenges. *Id.*, at 1011. Specifically, the Court stated that counsel had an "obligation to read the juror questionnaire forms" and to "develop information in the record" but that counsel's failure to do so "led counsel to make uninformed decisions regarding challenges. *Lamere*, at 1012. The *Lamere* Court addressed the prejudice prong of the claim by reference to structural error analysis but the application of this presumption of prejudice as to a structural error has been abrogated after the US Supreme Court decision in *Weaver v. Massachusetts*, - US - , 137 S Ct 1899 (2017). See discussion below concerning IAC prejudice and structural errors.

Likewise, in *Goodspeed v Texas*, the Court of Appeals of Texas, Texarkana addressed a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for a failure to ask any questions during voir dire of the prospective jurors. 120 SW3d 408 (TX Ct App. 2003)(reversed and remanded, for further development of the record, by the Court of Criminal Appeals of Texas in *Goodspeed v Texas*, 187 SW3d 390 (TX Ct Crim App 2005)). In reversing the conviction for aggravated sexual assault, the lower appellate *Goodspeed* Court indicated that trial counsel's "waiver of *Goodspeed's* right to solicit information from prospective jurors (when such information could only help assist in intelligently exercising peremptory strikes) falls well below the objective standard of reasonableness." *Goodspeed*, at 411. The lower *Goodspeed* Court found that "like a tiny pebble thrown in the midst of a calm lake, the ripple effects of ineffective assistance during

voir dire permeate the trial from beginning to end. *Goodspeed*, at 413.

On further appeal, the Court of Criminal Appeals of Texas reversed the lower Court of Appeals of Texas, Texarkana because the record was inadequate to determine if some legitimate reason existed for this failure even though, in a concurring opinion, the Court had “doubts” whether counsel was “pursuing a reasonable trial strategy when he failed ...” *Goodspeed v Texas*, 187 SW3d 390 (TX Ct Cr App 2005) & *Goodspeed*, at 394 (concurring opinion of Price and Cochran). This higher appellate opinion in *Goodspeed* did not reverse the lower *Goodspeed* Court's opinion that counsel can render deficient performance by omission during *voir dire*. In fact, the higher *Goodspeed* Court noted that this remand was consistent with dicta from a previous case indicating that “defense counsel has an ‘obligation’ to ask questions.” *Goodspeed*, at 393 (internal citations omitted).

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