RECEIVED

May 19 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

On Writ of Certiorari to Colleton County
Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-000970

ANTWAN D. McMILLAN,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief judge correctly determined McMillan failed to establish his ineffective assistance of counsel claim because defense counsel did not provide objectively unreasonable representation by failing to propose questioning on a peripheral matter during the voir dire process and because McMillan suffered no actual prejudice as a result of defense counsel’s purported deficiency in light of the fact the case was decided by a fair and impartial jury, which was all McMillan was entitled to under the law.

McMillan contends the post-conviction relief judge erred by failing to find defense counsel provided constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel during trial. In support of that contention, McMillan maintains defense counsel was deficient for failing to request the trial judge conduct voir dire of the prospective jurors concerning their relationships with law enforcement in general and the Colleton County Sheriff’s Office specifically, which he—with the infallible aid of hindsight—alleges would have revealed a “potential and material source of bias” as to Juror # 102. McMillan further asserts he was prejudiced by the deficiency because defense counsel’s failure to learn about Juror # 102’s possible bias through voir dire hindered his ability to reasonably and intelligently exercise his peremptory strikes, which he claims constituted a structural error that rendered his trial fundamentally unfair.⁹ To the contrary, the post-conviction relief judge committed no error by concluding McMillan failed to meet his burden of establishing either deficiency or prejudice. Regarding deficiency, defense counsel—

⁹ Throughout his brief, McMillan repeatedly identifies the error that allegedly occurred in his case as a structural one that purportedly “alone” warranted a grant of post-conviction relief regardless of whether the outcome of the trial would have been different but for counsel’s supposedly deficient performance. (Pet. Br. pp. 5-6; p. 16; p. 21; p. 25). Notably though, McMillan did *not* raise that particular contention during the post-conviction relief proceedings. (App’x pp. 823-826; 830-840; pp. 850-855). As a result, McMillan’s structural error argument was not properly preserved for appellate review as it was neither presented to nor ruled upon by the post-conviction relief judge. See Plyler v. State, 309 S.C. 408, 409, 424 S.E.2d 477, 478 (1992) (“On certiorari to this Court, Plyler raises the issue of whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to an erroneous malice charge. Since this issue was neither raised at the PCR hearing nor ruled upon by the PCR court, it is procedurally barred.”), overruled on other grounds by State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019).

along with defense counsel for McMillan’s co-defendant—did not fail to provide reasonably competent representation by declining to propose questioning on the peripheral matter of the prospective jurors’ *wives*’ employment during the voir dire process, which was particularly true in light of the fact defense counsel had already received and reviewed information regarding that particular matter from the clerk of court’s office prior to trial. Similarly, regarding prejudice, nothing was presented to establish Juror # 102 was not fair and impartial, which meant McMillan failed to establish there was a reasonable likelihood the outcome of his trial would have been different but for defense counsel’s allegedly deficient performance. Under such circumstances, McMillan failed to meet his burden of proving his ineffective assistance of counsel claim, and the post-conviction relief judge correctly denied and dismissed his application for post-conviction relief. The post-conviction relief judge’s order denying McMillan’s application for post-conviction relief should be affirmed.

In every criminal case tried in South Carolina, the defendant has a constitutional right to a fair trial. State v. Woods, 345 S.C. 583, 587, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001); see State v. Harris, 340 S.C. 59, 63, 530 S.E.2d 626, 627 (2000) (“The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution guarantee a defendant a fair trial by a panel of impartial and indifferent jurors.”). Pursuant to that right, the defendant is entitled to effective assistance of counsel. McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771, n. 14 (1970); see Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984) (“An accused is entitled to be assisted by an attorney, whether retained or appointed, who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair.”). Significantly though, effective assistance of counsel does *not* mean perfect or mistake-free representation. See Weaver v. Massachusetts, ___ U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. 1899 (2017) (“[A] defendant has a right to effective representation, not a right to an attorney who performs his duties ‘mistake-free.’ ” (citation

omitted)); Burt v. Titlow, 571 U.S. 12, 24 (2013) (“[T]he Sixth Amendment does not guarantee the right to perfect counsel; it promises only the right to effective assistance[.]”); Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003) (“The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight.”). Instead, it simply means assistance that was objectively reasonable under prevailing professional norms. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688. Meanwhile, counsel’s assistance is considered to be constitutionally ineffective only when “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Id. at 686; see Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 110 (2011) (“Representation is constitutionally ineffective only if it so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the defendant was denied a fair trial.” (citation and internal quotations omitted)).

When faced with a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a reviewing court must conduct a two-pronged analysis. Franklin v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 563, 570, 552 S.E.2d 718, 722 (2001). Pursuant to that two-pronged analysis, an applicant raising an ineffective assistance of counsel claim must establish: (1) counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness; *and* (2) there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the proceeding would have been different but for counsel’s deficient performance. Williams v. State, 363 S.C. 341, 343, 611 S.E.2d 232, 233 (2005). Thus, the applicant has the heavy burden of establishing both deficiency and prejudice in order to be entitled to relief. Hughes v. State, 346 S.C. 554, 558, 552 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2001); see United States v. Balzano, 916 F.2d 1273, 1292 (7th Cir. 1990) (characterizing the required showing a defendant must make in order to successfully establish an ineffective assistance of counsel claim as a “high mountain a defendant must climb”); Stone v. State, 419 S.C. 370, 380, 798 S.E.2d 561, 566 (2017) (instructing “the law requires [a reviewing

court to] presume counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment” and only find to the contrary when the applicant has overcome that presumption by establishing both deficiency and prejudice); see also Weaver, 137 S. Ct. at 1912 (explaining “the rules governing ineffective-assistance claims must be applied with *scrupulous care*” (emphasis added and citation and internal quotations omitted)).

Regarding the deficiency prong of the analysis, the proper measure of performance is whether counsel provided representation within the objectively reasonable range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985); see Richter, 562 U.S. at 110 (instructing the proper analysis “calls for an inquiry into the *objective* reasonableness of counsel’s performance, not counsel’s subjective state of mind” (emphasis added)). When analyzing counsel’s performance, the reviewing court will strongly presume counsel provided adequate assistance, and the applicant is responsible for overcoming that presumption. Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814; see Cullen v. Pinholster, 563 U.S. 170, 189 (2011) (explaining a defendant must show defense counsel failed to act reasonably considering all the circumstances in order to overcome the presumption of adequate representation). Furthermore, the reviewing court will scrutinize counsel’s performance in a highly deferential manner, will make every effort “to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight,” and will “evaluate the conduct from counsel’s perspective at the time” in light of the then-existing circumstances. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. In order to establish counsel’s performance was deficient, the applicant must demonstrate “counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” Id. at 687. Thus, counsel’s performance will be considered to be deficient only when it objectively amounted to incompetence under prevailing professional norms and *not*

when it simply “deviated from best practices or most common custom.” Richter, 562 U.S. at 105; see State v. Woullard, 813 N.E.2d 964, 971 (Ohio Ct. App. 2004) (“Defense counsel’s strategy must have been outside the realm of legitimate trial strategy so as ‘to make ordinary counsel scoff’ before a conviction will be reversed on the basis of ineffective assistance.” (citations omitted)).

Beyond satisfying the burden required by the deficiency prong, an applicant also bears the burden of establishing prejudice in order to be entitled to relief as “[a]n error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment.”¹⁰ Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. In order for that burden to be met, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant to such an extent there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different but for counsel’s unprofessional errors.¹¹ Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386

¹⁰ Notably, “a court need not determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697. In fact, a reviewing court ordinarily should dispose of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim on the grounds of lack of sufficient prejudice “[i]f it is easier” to do so. Id.

¹¹ Significantly, when arguing for relief to the post-conviction relief judge, McMillan agreed Strickland’s “reasonable probability of a different result” test was the appropriate standard for determining whether prejudice sufficient to warrant a grant of a new trial had been established, and he even included and relied upon that very standard in his proposed order granting relief. (App’x pp. 853-854). Similarly, in his petition for writ of certiorari, McMillan asserted a court reviewing a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel “must determine if it is reasonably likely that the outcome of the trial would have been different had counsel not performed deficiently.” (Pet. for Cert. p. 6). Meanwhile, in that same petition, McMillan further acknowledged the United States Supreme Court’s decision in Weaver called into doubt the application of a presumption of prejudice to structural errors in the setting of post-conviction relief before attempting to distinguish Weaver from his own case due to the limited nature of its holding. (Pet. for Cert. pp. 8-9; pp. 14-15). Conversely, now that certiorari has been granted, McMillan currently appears to suggest the United States Supreme Court altered the Strickland analysis through its decision in Weaver and indicated “proof that a structural error undermined the fundamental fairness of the trial proceedings is sufficient to establish Strickland prejudice even if

S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989); see Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997)

(“To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a PCR applicant has the burden of proving counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and, but for counsel’s errors, there is a reasonable probability the result at trial would have been different.”). Importantly, “[t]he likelihood of a different result must be *substantial*, not just

prejudice is not presumed.” (App. Br. p. 16; pp. 19-20). Beyond that, McMillan also now heavily faults the post-conviction relief judge for failing to “acknowledge the impact of the Weaver decision” in her order denying relief despite never actually presenting any Weaver-based arguments at the circuit court level. (App. p. 5; p. 16). Notwithstanding the fact the shifting nature of McMillan’s arguments raises fundamental issue preservation concerns, the United States Supreme Court did *not* actually alter the Strickland analysis through its decision in Weaver. See Plyler, 309 S.C. at 413, 424 S.E.2d at 480 (affirming on procedural grounds when an issue was raised for the first time on certiorari); State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”). Instead, in Weaver, the United States Supreme Court directly confirmed it was doing the *exact opposite* and explicitly stated it was only *assuming* a different standard was applicable for purposes of its analysis in Weaver’s individual case. See Weaver, 137 S. Ct. at 1911 (“[Weaver] . . . argues that under a proper interpretation of Strickland, even if there is no showing of a reasonable probability of a different outcome, relief still must be granted if the convicted person shows that attorney errors rendered the trial fundamentally unfair. *For the analytical purposes of this case*, the Court will *assume* that [Weaver]’s interpretation of Strickland is the correct one. In light of the Court’s ultimate holding, however, the Court *need not decide that question here*.” (emphasis added)). Accordingly, the standard applicable in McMillan’s case remains—just as the post-conviction relief judge recognized and McMillan previously acknowledged—the Strickland standard that has traditionally been applied in South Carolina and elsewhere throughout the nation. See Richter, 562 U.S. at 111 (“In assessing prejudice under Strickland, the question is not whether a court can be certain counsel’s performance had no effect on the outcome or whether it is possible a reasonable doubt might have been established if counsel acted differently. Instead, Strickland asks whether it is reasonably likely the result would have been different.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)); Williams, 363 S.C. at 343, 611 S.E.2d at 233 (“A PCR applicant claiming trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance must demonstrate that (1) counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and (2) but for counsel’s error, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceeding would have been different.”); cf. Ramirez v. State, 212 A.3d 363, 390 (Md. 2019) (concluding Ramirez—“like most petitioners who allege ineffective assistance of counsel”—had the burden of proving his counsel’s deficient performance, which resulted in a juror being seated who directly indicated his past experience as a crime victim would affect his ability to fairly and impartially decide Ramirez’s case, resulted in prejudice and finding Ramirez failed to meet that burden because he failed to show a significant possibility the verdict was affected by his counsel’s conduct).

conceivable.” Richter, 562 U.S. at 112 (emphasis added); see Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694 (“A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.”).

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